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STATEMENT FROM ThE ChAIRMAN OF ThE BOARD

Dear Shareholders,

It is with great pleasure that I present 
to you the Kuwait China Investment 
Company (“KCIC”) financials for the year 
2013. The year was filled with plenty 
of challenges but we believe that KCIC 
managed to navigate through, achieving 
significant and important milestones 
along the way.

Persistent volatility was an overriding 
theme for 2013. Across Asia, markets 
started the year quite benignly but then 
dropped off significantly mid-year as the 
Chairman of the United States Federal 
Reserve, Ben Bernanke, indicated a shift 
to a tightening of monetary policy by 
systematically reducing asset purchases. 
This announcement resulted in a correc-
tion in global equity markets as investors 
withdrew funds away from emerging 
markets into the perceived safety of 
developed markets and set the stage for 
a challenging second half of the year. 

2013 also began with immediate focus 
on the rising political tensions across 
the Middle East and Asia. The Syrian 
conflict entered its 3rd year with no 

respite to the innocent lives it destroyed; 
China and Japan continued to escalate 
North Asian tensions in their claims on 
disputed territories in the North China 
Seas. These events continued to have a 
strong influence on global markets and 
tempered investor’s sentiment for emerg-
ing markets. In addition, uncertainty 
of an economic recovery in both the 
Eurozone and the United States created 
a difficult environment for investment 
as market fundamentals fell victim to 
the broader political gridlock and were 
no longer a strong basis for investment 
performance. Although Asian economic 
fundamentals are strong compared to 
other emerging markets, investors were 
unable to make the distinction. Thus, 
Asian markets were subject to significant 
selling pressure in the second half of the 
year. This has resulted in very attrac-
tive valuations, which should result in 
significant upside once investors act to 
reverse this trend.

The largest Asian economy – China – is 
transitioning from an investment-driven 
growth model to one which is based on 
domestic demand. This transformation 
has resulted in a relative slowdown and 

speculative bets against it. We believe 
that the Chinese government has the 
determination and tools to avoid a hard 
landing and set the stage for structural 
growth to continue in the long-term.

The MSCI Asia Ex-Japan price index, 
the most important benchmark of our 
markets, ended the year up only 68 
basis points (0.68%). Nevertheless, 
against this backdrop, our fund strate-
gies performed well by outperforming 
their respective benchmark significantly. 
Our flagship fund, Gateway, recorded a 
return of over 7% to investors through 
the end of the year and our sector teams, 
especially our technology strategy, 
performed extremely well under these 
conditions marking up a 16.51% return 
for the year.

This performance in public markets was 
one of the key factors in helping the firm 
successfully win portfolio mandates and 
propel the firm above the US$1 billion 
dollar mark in assets under manage-
ment.

Our private equity portfolio, which was 
the best performing asset class in our 



ANNUAL REPORT 2013 5

portfolio for 2013, recorded a valuation 
uplift in one of its core holdings as a fresh 
round of funds was secured from new 
and existing investors in the company. In 
addition, we saw some successful exits 
from our fund holdings as some markets 
recovered.

Nevertheless, as interest rates edge 
upwards slightly with an expectation of 
further moves, we believe that asset allo-
cations will remain overweight to equity 
markets globally. While this may be sup-
portive of a continued rally in equities, it 
does pose a risk as equity markets start 
to look stretched in the United States. We 
address this risk by investing in highly 
liquid strategies that can be efficiently 
unwound should the firm face a sharp 
market correction.

For 2013, KCIC - with its paid up capital 
of KD80 million - recorded total revenue 
of KD7.79 million compared with a rev-
enue of KD11.97 million for 2012. This 
resulted in a net profit of KD1 million 
(which equates to a profit of 1.30 fils 
per share) compared to a net profit of 
KD5.2 million (which equates to a profit 
of 6.69 fils per share). This generated a 

return of equity (“ROE”) of 1.12% for the 
year. The general and administrative 
expenses were KD2.02 million for 2013 as 
compared to KD1.71 million for 2012. In 
addition, we would like to address to our 
shareholders that as per companies law, 
the board of directors did not benefit from 
the membership except for the board 
remuneration which is presented to this 
general assembly for approval. 

Looking ahead, we believe that global 
markets have yet to find their equilibrium 
as the fall-out from the global financial 
crisis continues to force firms to delever-
age. This means that there could be more 
challenges along the way, some of which 
may not be known today. however, we 
remain confident of Asia and its ability 
to mature. 

Finally, it is my pleasure to express on 
behalf of KCIC’s Board of Directors, 
employees and myself, our sincere grati-
tude and appreciation to h.h. The Emir of 
Kuwait Sheikh Sabah Al-Ahmad Al-Jaber 
Al-Sabah, h.h. The Crown Prince Sheikh 
Nawaf Al-Ahmad Al-Jaber Al-Sabah, 
h.h. The Prime Minister Sheikh Jaber 
Al-Mubarak Al-hamad Al-Sabah, as well 

as to our government for its continued 
support of Kuwait’s national institu-
tions and companies, praying to God 
Almighty to bestow upon our beloved 
homeland, blessing of safety, security 
and prosperity.

Last but not least, I would like to person-
ally commend the team at KCIC who 
continue to contribute to the firm with 
their skills and talents. Today, the firm 
can be proud in standing amongst its 
peers with a group of highly motivated 
professionals who work hard in helping 
build KCIC into the world class institution 
it aspires to be. 

Thank you for your support and faith; we 
hope to continue to deliver to our share-
holders, superior risk-adjusted returns 
from Asia, a region with tremendous 
growth and investment potential.

Dari Ali Al-Bader
Chairman
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AUDITORS’ REPORT
Independent to the Shareholders of Kuwait China Investment Company K.S.C.P.

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Kuwait China Investment Company K.S.C.P. (the 

“Parent Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 

position as at 31 December 2013, and the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 

consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary 

of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted for use by the State of Kuwait, and for such internal control 

as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 

audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 

and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free 

from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 

financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 

material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 

the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 

statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 

an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 

accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 

overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Group 

as at 31 December 2013, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards as adopted for use by the state of Kuwait.
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AUDITORS’ REPORT (Continued)
Independent to the Shareholders of Kuwait China Investment Company K.S.C.P.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Furthermore, in our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the Parent Company and the consolidated financial 

statements, together with the contents of the report of the Parent Company’s Board of Directors relating to these consolidated 

financial statements, are in accordance therewith. We further report that we obtained all the information and explanations 

that we required for the purpose of our audit and that the consolidated financial statements incorporate all information that is 

required by the Companies Law No. 25 of 2012, as amended, and by the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and 

Articles of Association, that an inventory was duly carried out and that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no violations 

of the Companies Law No. 25 of 2012, as amended, or of the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles 

of Association have occurred during the year ended 31 December 2013 that might have had a material effect on the business 

of the Parent Company or on its financial position.

We further report that, during the course of our audit, we have not become aware of any violations of the provisions of Law 

No. 32 of 1968, as amended, concerning currency, the Central Bank of Kuwait and the organisation of banking business, and 

its related regulations, or of the provision of Law No. 7 of 2010 concerning the Capital Marketss Authority, and its related 

regulation during the year ended 31 December 2013 that might have had a material effect on the business of the Parent 

Company or on its financial position.

WALEED A. AL OSAIMI ALI A. AL-HASAWI

LICENCE NO. 68 A LICENCE NO. 30 A

ERNST & YOUNG RÖDL MIDDLE EAST 

AL AIBAN, AL OSAIMI & PARTNERS BURGAN - INTERNATIONAL ACCOUNTANTS

10 March 2014

Kuwait
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2013

2013 2012
Notes KD KD

INCOME
Net gain on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value

   through profit or loss 3 903,151 7,792,121
Realised gain on sale of financial assets available-for-sale 1,439,367 853,723
Management and advisory fees 254,540 346,030
Dividend income 4 1,256,750 1,155,596
Murabaha income 249,183 - 
Interest income 5 649,589 547,872
Share of result of an associate 11 (671,177) 1,129,936
Gain on derecognition of an associate 11 3,493,745 - 
Foreign exchange gain 118,541 13,264
Other income 106,133 135,596
TOTAL INCOME 7,799,822 11,974,138

EXPENSES
Finance cost 206,346 184,075
Staff costs 2,925,719 3,259,845
General and administrative expenses 2,023,149 1,708,012
Impairment loss on financial assets available-for-sale 10 1,501,537 1,043,349
Impairment loss on other assets 23,580 292,359
TOTAL EXPENSES 6,680,331 6,487,640

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR BEFORE KFAS, NLST, ZAKAT AND

   DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 1,119,491 5,486,498
Contribution to Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS) 9,934 20,768
National Labour Support Tax (NLST) 29,573 136,668
Zakat 11,986 54,667
Directors’ remuneration 40,000 40,000
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 1,027,998 5,234,395
Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Parent Company 1,012,300 5,199,473
Non-controlling interests 15,698 34,922

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 1,027,998 5,234,395
BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE

   TO THE EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT COMPANY 6 1.30 fils 6.69 fils 

The attached notes 1 to 25 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the year ended 31 December 2013

2013 2012
KD KD

Profit for the year 1,027,998 5,234,395
Other comprehensive income: 
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to consolidated income statement

   in subsequent periods
Financial assets available-for-sale:

- Net loss (850,065) (1,054,080)
- Impairment loss transferred to consolidated income statement 1,501,537 843,349

Foreign currency translation adjustment (145,068) 628,898
Other comprehensive income for the year 506,404 418,167
Total comprehensive income for the year 1,534,402 5,652,562
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company 1,581,222 5,546,216
Non-controlling interests (46,820) 106,346

1,534,402 5,652,562

The attached notes 1 to 25 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2013 2012
Notes KD KD

ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents 7 9,250,380 6,866,322
Murabaha receivables 8 2,338,539 -
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 9 40,712,245 43,082,415
Financial assets available-for-sale 10 36,491,442 28,063,910
Held-to-maturity investments - 690,826
Investment in an associate 11 - 4,672,799
Other assets 12 16,745,609 12,114,508
TOTAL ASSETS 105,538,215 95,490,780

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 
LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 9 4,284,743 4,112,465
Other liabilities 13 4,685,764 3,710,887

8,970,507 7,823,352

EQUITY
Share capital 14 80,000,000 80,000,000
Statutory reserve 15 2,843,472 2,733,093
General reserve 16 526,317 526,317
Treasury shares 17 (1,698,775) (1,698,775)
Other reserve 89,555 89,555
Cumulative changes in fair values 1,410,870 759,398
Foreign currency translation reserve 99,084 181,634
Retained earnings 2,726,716 1,824,795 
Equity attributable to the equity holders of the Parent Company 85,997,239 84,416,017
Non-controlling interests 10,570,469 3,251,411
TOTAL EQUITY 96,567,708 87,667,428
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 105,538,215 95,490,780

Dari A. Al-Bader

Chairman

Ahmad A. Al-Hamad

Vice Chairman & CEO

The attached notes 1 to 25 form part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 31 December 2013
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the year ended 31 December 2013

Attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company

Share 

capital

Statutory 

reserve

General

reserve

Treasury

shares

Other

reserve

Cumulative

changes in fair 

values

Foreign currency 

translation

reserve

Retained

earnings Sub-total

Non

controlling

interests Total
KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD

Balance at 1 January 2013 80,000,000 2,733,093 526,317 (1,698,775) 89,555 759,398 181,634 1,824,795 84,416,017 3,251,411 87,667,428
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 1,012,300 1,012,300 15,698 1,027,998
Other comprehensive income (loss)

   for the year - - - - - 651,472 (82,550) - 568,922 (62,518) 506,404
Total comprehensive income (loss)

   for the year - - - - - 651,472 (82,550) 1,012,300 1,581,222 (46,820) 1,534,402
Transfer to reserve - 110,379 - - - - - (110,379) - - -
Redemption of units by non-controlling

   interests - - - - - - - - - (2,814,318) (2,814,318)
Non-controlling interest arising from

   additional capital in subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - 10,180,196 10,180,196
Balance at 31 December 2013 80,000,000 2,843,472 526,317 (1,698,775) 89,555 1,410,870 99,084 2,726,716 85,997,239 10,570,469 96,567,708

Attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company

Share 

capital

Statutory 

reserve

General

reserve

Treasury

shares

Other

reserve

Cumulative

changes in fair 

values

Foreign currency 

translation

reserve

Retained

earnings Sub-total

Non

controlling

interests Total
KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD

Balance at 1 January 2012 80,000,000 2,502,327 526,317 (1,698,775) 89,555 970,129 (375,840)  (3,143,912) 78,869,801 3,229,108 82,098,909
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 5,199,473 5,199,473 34,922 5,234,395
Other comprehensive (loss) income

   for the year - - - - - (210,731) 557,474 - 346,743 71,424 418,167
Total comprehensive (loss) Income

   for the year - - - - - (210,731) 557,474 5,199,473 5,546,216 106,346 5,652,562
Transfer to reserve - 230,766 - - - - - (230,766) - - -
Redemption of units by non-controlling

   interests - - - - - - - - - (238,621) (238,621)
Non-controlling interest arising from

   additional capital in subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - 154,578 154,578
Balance at 31 December 2012 80,000,000 2,733,093 526,317 (1,698,775) 89,555 759,398 181,634 1,824,795 84,416,017 3,251,411 87,667,428

The attached notes 1 to 25 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company

Share 

capital

Statutory 

reserve

General

reserve

Treasury

shares

Other

reserve

Cumulative

changes in fair 

values

Foreign currency 

translation

reserve

Retained

earnings Sub-total

Non

controlling

interests Total
KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD

Balance at 1 January 2013 80,000,000 2,733,093 526,317 (1,698,775) 89,555 759,398 181,634 1,824,795 84,416,017 3,251,411 87,667,428
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 1,012,300 1,012,300 15,698 1,027,998
Other comprehensive income (loss)

   for the year - - - - - 651,472 (82,550) - 568,922 (62,518) 506,404
Total comprehensive income (loss)

   for the year - - - - - 651,472 (82,550) 1,012,300 1,581,222 (46,820) 1,534,402
Transfer to reserve - 110,379 - - - - - (110,379) - - -
Redemption of units by non-controlling

   interests - - - - - - - - - (2,814,318) (2,814,318)
Non-controlling interest arising from

   additional capital in subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - 10,180,196 10,180,196
Balance at 31 December 2013 80,000,000 2,843,472 526,317 (1,698,775) 89,555 1,410,870 99,084 2,726,716 85,997,239 10,570,469 96,567,708

Attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company

Share 

capital

Statutory 

reserve

General

reserve

Treasury

shares

Other

reserve

Cumulative

changes in fair 

values

Foreign currency 

translation

reserve

Retained

earnings Sub-total

Non

controlling

interests Total
KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD

Balance at 1 January 2012 80,000,000 2,502,327 526,317 (1,698,775) 89,555 970,129 (375,840)  (3,143,912) 78,869,801 3,229,108 82,098,909
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 5,199,473 5,199,473 34,922 5,234,395
Other comprehensive (loss) income

   for the year - - - - - (210,731) 557,474 - 346,743 71,424 418,167
Total comprehensive (loss) Income

   for the year - - - - - (210,731) 557,474 5,199,473 5,546,216 106,346 5,652,562
Transfer to reserve - 230,766 - - - - - (230,766) - - -
Redemption of units by non-controlling

   interests - - - - - - - - - (238,621) (238,621)
Non-controlling interest arising from

   additional capital in subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - 154,578 154,578
Balance at 31 December 2012 80,000,000 2,733,093 526,317 (1,698,775) 89,555 759,398 181,634 1,824,795 84,416,017 3,251,411 87,667,428

The attached notes 1 to 25 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the year ended 31 December 2013

2013 2012
Notes KD KD

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit for the year before KFAS, NLST, Zakat and Directors’ Remuneration 1,119,491 5,486,498
Adjustments for:
Net gain on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through

   profit or loss  3 (903,151) (7,792,121)
Realised gain on financial assets available-for-sale (1,439,367) (853,723)
Dividend income (1,256,750) (1,155,596)
Murabaha income (249,183) - 
Interest income (649,589) (547,872)
Share of results of an associate 671,177 (1,129,936)
Gain on derecognition of an associate (3,493,745) - 
Impairment loss on financial assets available-for-sale 1,501,537 1,043,349
Impairment loss on other assets 23,580 292,359
Finance cost 206,346 184,075

(4,469,654) (4,472,967)
Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 3,273,321 10,225,328
Financial liability at fair value through profit or loss 172,278 67,780
Murabaha receivables (2,362,119) - 
Other assets (5,437,535) (3,624,280)
Other liabilities 848,265 (948,446)

Cash (used in) from operations (7,975,444) 1,247,415
Murabaha income received 220,617 - 
Interest income received 521,733 235,542
Paid to KFAS (20,768) - 
NLST paid (55,792) - 
Zakat paid (54,667) - 
Directors’ remuneration paid (40,000) - 
Net cash (used in) from operating activities (7,404,321) 1,482,957

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of financial assets available-for-sale (1,754,184) (496,103)
Proceeds from sale of financial assets available-for-sale 2,396,677 2,617,542
Financial assets held to maturity 690,826 (690,826)
Dividend income received 1,256,750 1,155,596
Net cash from investing activities 2,590,069 2,586,209

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net movement in non-controlling interest 7,365,878 (84,043)
Net cash from (used in) financing activities 7,365,878 (84,043)
Net foreign exchange difference (167,568) 678,364
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2,384,058 4,663,487
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 6,866,322 2,202,835
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 7 9,250,380 6,866,322

The attached notes 1 to 25 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2013

1- CORPORATE INFORMATION
The Group comprises Kuwait China Investment Company K.S.C.P. (the “Parent Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the 
“Group”). The Parent Company is a Kuwaiti shareholding company incorporated on 12 December 2005 under the Commercial 
Companies Law No. 15 of 1960 and amendments thereto, and listed on the Kuwait Stock Exchange. ‘The Parent Company is 
regulated by the Central Bank of Kuwait (“CBK”) and Capital Markets Authority (“CMA”) as an investment company. 

The Group is engaged in investment activities and related financial services.

The purposes and objectives of the Parent Company are as follows:
1. To invest in real estate, industrial and agricultural sectors and other economic sectors through contribution in the 

establishment of the specialized companies or its partial ownership or to buy the shares or bonds of these companies in 
the different sectors.

2. To manage the funds of public and private institutions and to invest these funds in the different economic sectors including 
the management of financial and real estate portfolios.

3. To offer and prepare technical, economic and evaluative studies and consultancies and to study the projects related to 
the investment and to prepare the studies necessary for these institutions and companies.

4. To mediate in lending and borrowing operations.
5. To perform duties related to the positions of the directors of issue for the deeds issued by the companies and the authorities 

and the positions of investment trustees.
6. To finance and intermediate in the international trading operations.
7. To offer loans for others subject to the rules of solvency in granting loans with preserving the continuity of solvency of the 

financial position of the Company in accordance with the conditions, rules and limits set by the Central Bank of Kuwait.
8. To conclude transactions and to carry out trading in the foreign parts market and the valuable metals market inside and 

outside Kuwait for the account of the Company only.
9. To conduct the operations related to securities circulation such as purchasing and selling shares and bonds of the 

companies, governmental, national and international bodies.
10. To carry out all financial, consultative and investment services that help the development and support of the financial 

and monetary market capacity in Kuwait and meet its needs; all shall be within the limits of the law and procedures or 
instructions issued by the Central Bank of Kuwait.

11. To establish and manage investment funds with all their types in accordance with the law.
12. To mobilize the resources for lease finance and arrange group lease finance, particularly small and medium institutions; 

it may not accept deposits.
13. To invest its funds in the different investment aspects approved by the Central Bank of Kuwait mainly finance by method 

of lease and this requires movable and immovable assets ownership and to lease them; the same shall not include the 
purchase of consumer goods.

14. To acquire industrial properties rights, invention patents, trademarks, industrial marks, trade designs as well as the rights of the 
moral and intellectual rights related to the programs and the products and to exploit and lease them to other authorities.

15. To establish and manage investment funds for its account and for the account of others and to offer subscription units 
and to carry out the position of the investment trustee or the investment manager of investment funds for lease in Kuwait 
and abroad in accordance with the laws and the resolutions in force in the State.

16. To manage the international portfolios and to invest and raise funds in lease operations for its account and for the account 
of others in accordance with the laws and resolutions in force in the State.
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1- COPORATE INFORMATION (continued)

The Parent Company's registered office is at Kipco Tower, 31st Floor, Khalid Bin Al Waleed Street, Sharq, Kuwait. 

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013 were authorised for issue by the Parent Company’s 

Board of Directors on 10 March 2014 and are subject to the approval of the Annual General Meeting of the shareholders of 

the Parent Company. The Annual General Meeting of the shareholders of the Parent Company have the right to amend these 

consolidated financial statements.

The New Companies Law issued on 26 November 2012 by Decree Law no. 25 of 2012 (the “Companies Law”), cancelled the 

Commercial Companies Law No. 15 of 1960. The Companies Law was subsequently amended on 27 March 2013 by Decree 

Law no. 97 of 2013 (the Decree). The Executive Regulations of the new amended law, issued on 29 September 2013, was 

published in the official Gazette on 6 October 2013. As per article three of the Executive Regulations, companies have one 

year from the date of publishing the Executive Regulations to comply with the new amended law.

Details of subsidiaries are given in note 2.2.

2.1- BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with the regulations of the State of 

Kuwait for financial services institutions regulated by the Central Bank of Kuwait. These regulations require adoption of all 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) except for the IAS 39 requirement for collective provision, which has been 

replaced by the CBK’s requirement for a minimum general provision as described under the accounting policy for impairment 

of financial assets.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention except for financial assets and 

financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets available-for-sale and derivative financial instruments 

that have been measured at fair value.

The consolidated financial statements have been presented in Kuwaiti Dinars (KD), which is the Parent Company’s functional 

and presentation currency.
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2.2- BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

 The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries (investees 

which are controlled by the Group) as at 31 December 2013. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to 

variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 

investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:

• Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee)

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and

• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts 

and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

• The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee

• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements

• The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to 

one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the 

subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary 

acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the date 

the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of 

the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line 

with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating 

to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. If the 

Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

• Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary

• Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest

• Derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in other comprehensive income

• Recognises the fair value of the consideration received

• Recognises the fair value of any investment retained

• Recognises any surplus or deficit in consolidated income statement

• Reclassifies the Parent Company’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income to 

consolidated income statement or retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly 

disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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2.2- BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (continued)

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries as stated 

below:

% Holding

Name of subsidiaries

Country of 

incorporation 2013 2012 Principal activities
Asiya Asset Management (Cayman) Limited Cayman Island 100% 100% Asset management
Asiya Gateway Fund Limited Cayman Island 80.26% 100% Investments
Asiya Century Fund Limited Cayman Island 100% 68.86% Investments
Asiya Proprietary Trading Limited Cayman Island 93.87% 98.3% Investments
Asiya Managed Account Platform SPC Cayman Island 100% 100% Investments
Asiya Investments Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% Investments
Asiya Investments Dubai Limited Dubai 100% 100% Investments
Asia Islamic Trade Finance Fund Cayman Island 70.89% 90.09% Investments
Asiya Capital Partners Limited Cayman Island 100% 100% Investments
Robin LP Cayman Island 90% 100% Investments
Asiya Equity Fund Limited * Cayman Island 100%  Investments
Asiya Panda Fund Limited * Cayman Island 67.02% Investments
Asiya Proprietary Trading Mauritius Ltd. ** Mauritius 100% Investments
Asiya Panda Mauritius Limited ** Mauritius 100% Investments

* Asiya Equity Fund Ltd. and Asiya Panda Fund Limited were incorporated on 23 May 2013 and started their operations on 1 

August 2013. Their underlying objective is to achieve long term capital appreciation by making a diversified set of investments 

in companies that are primarily located in, or derive a significant portion of their revenues from Asian countries. 

** Asiya Proprietary Trading Mauritius Ltd. and Asiya Panda Mauritius Limited were incorporated by the Group on 23 January 

2013 in the Republic of Mauritius and till date have not commenced operations.

2.3- CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are consistent with those used in the 

previous financial year, except for the adoption of the following new and amended standards effective as of 1 January 2013:

IAS 1: Financial Statement Presentation 

The amendments to IAS 1 change the grouping of items presented in other comprehensive income. Items that could be 

reclassified (or ‘recycled’) to consolidated income statement at a future point in time (for example, upon derecognition or 

settlement) would be presented separately from items that will never be reclassified. The amendment affects presentation 

only and therefore has no impact on the Group’s financial position or performance.
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2.3- CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

IAS 1: Clarification of the requirement for comparative information (Amendment) 

The amendment to IAS 1 clarifies the difference between voluntary additional comparative information and the minimum 

required comparative information. An entity must include comparative information in the related notes to the consolidated 

financial statements when it voluntarily provides comparative information beyond the minimum required comparative period. 

The amendments clarify that the opening consolidated statement of financial position (as at 1 January 2012 in the case of the 

Group), presented as a result of retrospective restatement or reclassification of items in consolidated financial statements 

does not have to be accompanied by comparative information in the related notes. The amendments have no impact on the 

Group’s financial position or performance.

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (as revised in 2011)

As a consequence of the new IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements and IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, IAS 28 Investments 

in Associates, has been renamed IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, and describes the application of the 

equity method to investments in joint ventures in addition to associates. The adoption of this standard has not resulted in 

any impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

IFRS 7: Disclosures - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities – Amendment to IFRS 7

These amendments require an entity to disclose information about rights to set-off financial instruments and related arrangements 

(e.g., collateral agreements). The disclosures would provide users with information that is useful in evaluating the effect of 

netting arrangements on an entity’s financial position. The new disclosures are required for all recognised financial instruments 

that are set off in accordance with IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation. The disclosures also apply to recognised 

financial instruments that are subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement, irrespective of 

whether they are set off in accordance with IAS 32. As the Group is not setting off financial instruments in accordance with 

IAS 32 and does not have relevant offsetting arrangements, the amendment does not have an impact on the Group.

IFRS 10: Consolidated Financial Statements 

IFRS 10 replaces the consolidation guidance in IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. It also addresses the 

issues raised in SIC-12 Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities.

IFRS 10 establishes a single control model that applies to all entities including special purpose entities. The changes introduced 

by IFRS 10 require management to exercise significant judgement to determine which entities are controlled and therefore, 

are required to be consolidated by the Group, compared with the requirements that were in IAS 27. The Group, regardless of 

the nature of its involvement with an entity, shall determine whether it is a parent by assessing whether it controls the entity. 

The Group controls an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 

and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Once control is established, the standard 

requires the Group to start consolidating the investee from the date the investor obtains control of the investee and cease 

consolidation when the investor loses control of the investee. The adoption of this standard has not resulted in any impact 

on the financial position or performance of the Group.
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2.3- CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

IFRS 12: Disclosure of Involvement with Other Entities (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013)

IFRS 12 sets out the requirements for disclosures relating to an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates 

and structured entities. The requirements in IFRS 12 are more comprehensive than the previously existing disclosure 

requirements for subsidiaries, for example, where a subsidiary is controlled with less than a majority of voting rights. The 

Group does not have subsidiaries with material non controlling interests or unconsolidated structured entities.

IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement 

IFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance under IFRS for all fair value measurements. IFRS 13 does not change when 

an entity is required to use fair value, but rather provides guidance on how to measure fair value under IFRS. IFRS 13 defines 

fair value as an exit price. As a result of the guidance in IFRS 13, the Group re-assessed its policies for measuring fair values. 

IFRS 13 also requires additional disclosures.

Application of IFRS 13 has not materially impacted the fair value measurements of the Group. Additional disclosures where 

required, are provided in the individual notes relating to the assets and liabilities whose fair values were determined. Fair 

value hierarchy is provided in note 24.

Other amendments to IFRSs which are effective for annual accounting period starting from 1 January 2013 did not have any 

material impact on the accounting policies, financial position or performance of the Group.

2.4- STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

Standards that are issued, but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Group’s consolidated financial statements 

are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these standards if applicable, when they become effective.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement

IFRS 9, as issued, reflects the first phase of the IASB’s work on the replacement of IAS 39 and applies to classification and 

measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities as defined in IAS 39. In subsequent phases, the IASB is addressing 

hedge accounting and impairment of financial assets. The adoption of the first phase of IFRS 9 will have an effect on the 

classification and measurement of the Group’s financial assets. The Group will quantify the effect in conjunction with the 

other phases, when the final standard including all phases is issued. The standard was initially effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2013, but Amendments to IFRS 9 Mandatory Effective Date of IFRS 9 and Transition Disclosures, 

issued in December 2011, moved the mandatory effective date to 1 January 2015. On November 19, 2013, the International 

Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued amendments to IFRS 9 that introduced a new general hedge accounting and 

removed the 1 January 2015, mandatory effective date from IFRS 9.  The new hedge accounting model significantly differs 

from the IAS 39 hedge accounting model in a number of aspects including eligibility of hedging instruments and hedged 

items, accounting for the time value component of options and forward contracts, qualifying criteria for applying hedge 

accounting, modification and discontinuation of hedging relationships etc.  Under the amendments, entities that adopt IFRS 9 

(as amended in November 2013) can choose an accounting policy of either adopting the new IFRS 9 hedge accounting model 

now or continuing to apply the hedge accounting model in IAS 39 for the time being.
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2.4- STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (continued)

Investment Entities (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27) 

These amendments provide an exception to the consolidation requirement for entities that meet the definition of an investment 

entity under IFRS 10. The exception to consolidation requires investment entities to account for subsidiaries at fair value through 

profit or loss. It is not expected that this amendment would be relevant to the Group, since none of the entities in the Group would 

qualify to be an investment entity under IFRS 10 and become effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014.

IAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities - Amendments to IAS 32

These amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off” and the criteria for non-

simultaneous settlement mechanisms of clearing houses to qualify for offsetting. These are effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2014. These amendments are not expected to be relevant to the Group.

IAS 36: Impairment of Assets - Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets (Amendment)

These amendments remove the unintended consequences of IFRS 13 on the disclosures required under IAS 36. In addition, 

these amendments require disclosure of the recoverable amounts for the assets or CGUs for which impairment loss has been 

recognised or reversed during the period. These amendments are effective retrospectively for annual periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 2014 with earlier application permitted, provided IFRS 13 is also applied.

The Group intends to adopt those standards when they become effective. However, the Group expects no significant impact 

from the adoption of the amendments on its financial position or performance.

2.5- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the 

consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For 

each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate 

share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and included in administrative expenses.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and 

designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition 

date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date 

fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent 

consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope of IAS 39, is measured at fair 

value with changes in fair value recognised either in consolidated income statement or as a change to other comprehensive 

income. If the contingent consideration is not within the scope of IAS 39, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate 

IFRS. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it should not be remeasured until it is finally settled within equity.
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2.5- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be 

reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 

received or receivable taking into account contractually defined terms of payment. The Group assesses its revenue arrangements 

against specific criteria in order to determine if it is acting as principal or agent. The Group has concluded that it is acting as 

a principal in all of its revenue arrangements. 

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Fee income

Placement and advisory fees are recognised when specific advisory services are rendered. Management fees relating to 

portfolios, fund management and custody services are recognised when earned. Incentive fees are recognised when earned, 

being the time the risk of realisation of such fees no longer exists.

Dividend income 

Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment is established, which is generally when

shareholders approve the dividend.

Murabaha income

Murabaha income is recognised on a weighted time apportionment basis.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as interest accrues using the effective yield method.

Taxation

Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS)

The Group calculates the contribution to KFAS at 1% of profit for the period in accordance with the modified calculation based 

on the Foundation’s Board of Directors resolution, which states that the transfer to statutory reserve should be excluded from 

profit for the period when determining the contribution. 

National Labour Support Tax (NLST)

The Group calculates NLST in accordance with Law No. 19 of 2000 and the Minister of Finance Resolutions No. 24 of 2006 

at 2.5% of taxable profit for the period. As per law, income from associates and subsidiaries and cash dividends from listed 

companies which are subjected to NLST are deducted from the profit for the year when determining taxable profit.

Zakat

Contribution to Zakat is calculated at 1% of the profit for the period in accordance with the Ministry of Finance resolution No. 

58/2007 effective from 10 December 2007.
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2.5- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash and balances with banks and financial institutions. 

Financial instruments

Financial assets 

Initial recognition and measurement:

Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 

receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or “financial assets available-for-sale”, or derivatives as appropriate. The Group 

determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs, except in the case of financial assets recorded 

at fair value through profit or loss. 

A “regular way” purchase of financial assets is recognised using the trade date accounting. Regular way purchases or sales 

are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by 

regulations or conventions in the market place.

The Group’s financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, quoted and unquoted financial instruments, murabaha 

receivables, other assets and derivative financial instruments.

Subsequent measurement:

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as described below:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The category of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is sub divided into:

Financial assets held for trading:

Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near 

term. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair 

value with changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition:

Financial assets are designated at fair value through profit or loss if they are managed, and their performance is evaluated on 

reliable fair value basis in accordance with a documented investment strategy. After initial recognition financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss are remeasured at fair value with all changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated income statement. 

Derivative instruments are categorised as held for trading unless they are designated as hedging instruments.
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2.5- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets available-for-sale

Financial assets available-for-sale includes equity and debt securities. Equity investments classified as available-for-sale are 

those, which are neither classified as held for trading nor designated at fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities in 

this category are those which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and which may be sold in response to 

needs for liquidity or in response to changes in the market conditions.

 

After initial recognition, financial assets available-for-sale are subsequently measured at fair value with unrealised gains or 

losses recognised as other comprehensive income until the investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain 

or loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement, or determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative loss 

is reclassified to the consolidated income statement.

Financial assets available-for-sale whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are carried at cost less impairment losses.

Held-to-maturity investments

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities are classified as held-to- maturity 

when the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold it to maturity. 

After initial measurement, held to maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 

less impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or 

costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate amortisation is disclosed 

separately in the consolidated income statement. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the consolidated 

income statement under finance costs.

Murabaha receivables

Murabaha is an Islamic transaction involving the purchase and immediate sale of an asset at cost plus an agreed profit. The 

amount due is settled on a deferred payment basis.

Other assets

Other assets are stated at original invoice amount less a provision for any uncollectible amounts. An estimate for doubtful 

debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable.
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2.5- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition 

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when:

• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; 

• The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received 

cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Group 

has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained 

substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, 

it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained 

substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of 

the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred 

asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained. 

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original 

carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial 

assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective 

evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred 

‘loss event’) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial 

assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the borrowers or a group of borrowers 

is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that 

they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable 

decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Loans and advances

Loans and advances are subject to credit risk provision for loan impairment if there is objective evidence that the Group will not be 

able to collect all amounts due. The amount of the provision is difference between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount, 

being the present value of expected future cash flows, including amount recoverable from guarantee and collateral, discounted 

based on the contractual interest rate. The amount of loss arising from impairment is taken to the consolidated income statement.

In addition, in accordance with CBK instructions, a minimum general provision of 1% for cash facilities and 0.5% for non 

cash facilities is made on all applicable credit facilities (net of certain categories of collateral), that are not provided for 

specifically.
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2.5- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets available-for-sale

For financial assets available-for-sale, the Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a 

financial asset available-for-sale or a group of financial assets available-for-sale is impaired. 

In the case of equity investments classified as financial assets available-for-sale, objective evidence would include a significant 

or prolonged decline in the fair value of the equity investment below its cost. ‘Significant’ is evaluated against the original 

cost of the investment and ‘prolonged’ against the period in which the fair value has been below its original cost. Where there 

is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair 

value, less any impairment loss on those financial assets available-for-sale previously recognised in the consolidated income 

statement, is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in the consolidated income statement. Impairment 

losses on equity investments are not reversed through the consolidated income statement; increase in their fair value after 

impairment is recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

In the case of debt instruments classified as available-for-sale, impairment is assessed based on the same criteria as financial 

assets carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded for impairment is the cumulative loss measured as the 

difference between the amortised cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously 

recognised in the consolidated income statement. 

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost the Group assesses individually whether objective evidence of impairment 

exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant. If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss 

has occurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the assets’s carrying amount and the present 

value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present 

value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial assets original effective interest rate. If a loan has a 

variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current EIR.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised 

in consolidated income statement. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued 

using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans 

together with the associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral 

has been realised or has been transferred to the Group. If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment 

loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised 

impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is 

credited to related account in the consolidated income statement.
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2.5- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and loan 

and borrowings, as appropriate. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the case of loans and borrowings, including directly attributable 

transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and other liabilities. 

Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss

The category of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss is sub divided into:

Financial liabilities held for trading: 

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. This 

category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments 

in hedge relationships as defined by IAS 39. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless 

they are designated as effective hedging instruments. 

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss: 

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss so designated at the initial date of recognition, 

and only if criteria of IAS 39 are satisfied. The Group has not designated any financial liability at fair value through profit or loss.

Other liabilities

Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether billed by the supplier or not. 

Derecognition 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the 

terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the 

original liability and the recognition of a new liability and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in 

the consolidated income statement.
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2.5- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial 

position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention 

to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Fair value measurement applicable after 1 January 2013 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 

market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction 

to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing 

the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 

benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset 

in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to 

measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are categorised 

within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement as a whole:

• Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

• Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly 

or indirectly observable

• Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 

unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines 

whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level 

input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature, 

characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.
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2.5- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement applicable before 1 January 2013

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined by reference to 

quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without any 

deduction for transaction costs.

For foreign hedge fund investments, fair value is determined based on net asset values reported by the fund managers.

For investments where there is no quoted market price, a reasonable estimate of the fair value is determined by using 

valuation techniques, such as recent arm’s length transactions, reference to the current fair value of another instrument 

that is substantially the same, an earnings multiple, or is based on the expected cash flows of the investment discounted at 

current rates applicable for items with similar terms and risk characteristics. Fair value estimates take into account liquidity 

constraints and assessment for any impairment.

Investments with no reliable measures of their fair values and for which no fair value information could be obtained are carried 

at their initial cost less impairment in value.

The fair value of unquoted derivatives is determined either by discounted cash flows or by reference to a broker’s quotes.

An analysis of fair value of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured are provided in note 24.

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the 

financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s investment in its associate is accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity method, the investment in 

the associate is carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost plus post acquisition changes in the Group’s 

share of net assets of the associate. Goodwill relating to the associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment 

and is neither amortized nor individually tested for impairment.

The consolidated income statement reflects the share of the results of operations of the associate. Where there has been a 

change recognized directly in the statement of comprehensive income of the associate, the Group recognizes its share of 

any changes and discloses this, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Unrealized gains 

and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in 

the associate. 

The share of result of an associate is shown on the face of the consolidated income statement. This is the result attributable 

to equity holders of the associate and therefore is result after tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the 

associate.
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2.5- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment in an associate (continued)

The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group and in case of different 

reporting date of associate, which are not more than three months, from that of the Group, adjustments are made for the 

effects of significant transactions or events that occur between that date and the date of the Group’s consolidated financial 

statements. Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognize an additional impairment loss on 

the Group’s investment in its associate. The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the 

investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between 

the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognizes the amount in the consolidated income statement.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognizes any retaining investment at its fair 

value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of 

the retaining investment and proceeds from disposal is recognized in consolidated income statement.

Fiduciary assets

Assets held in a trust or fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and, accordingly, are not included in the 

consolidated statement of financial position.

Treasury shares

The Parent Company’s own shares are accounted for as treasury shares and are stated at cost. When the treasury shares are 

sold, gains are credited to a separate account in equity (treasury shares reserve) which is non-distributable. Any realised 

losses are charged to the same account to the extent of the credit balance on that account. Any excess losses are charged 

to retained earnings then reserves. Gains realised subsequently on the sale of treasury shares are first used to offset any 

previously recorded losses in the order of reserves, retained earnings and the treasury shares reserve account. No cash 

dividends are distributed on these shares. The issue of bonus shares increases the number of treasury shares proportionately 

and reduces the average cost per share without affecting the total cost of treasury shares.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or contractual) arising from a past event and the 

costs to settle the obligation are both probable and measurable.

Employees’ end of service benefits

Provision is made for amounts payable to employees under the Kuwaiti Labour Law, employee contracts and applicable 

labour laws in the countries where the subsidiaries operate. This liability, which is unfunded, represents the amount payable 

to each employee as a result of termination on the reporting date.

With respect to its Kuwaiti employees, the Group makes contributions to Public Authority for Social Security as a percentage 

of the employees’ salaries. The Group’s obligations are limited to these contributions, which are expensed when due.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
As at 31 December 2013



ANNUAL REPORT 2013 31

2.5- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Kuwaiti Dinars, which is the Parent Company’s functional and 

presentation currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial 

statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group’s entities at their respective functional currency spot 

rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency spot rate of 

exchange ruling at the reporting date. All differences are taken to the consolidated income statement. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 

rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 

using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign 

operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition are treated 

as assets and liabilities of the foreign operations and translated at closing rate.

Group companies 

As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries, and the carrying amount of foreign associate are 

translated into the Parent Company’s presentation currency (the Kuwaiti Dinars) at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting 

date, and their income statement are translated at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences 

arising on translation are taken to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as foreign exchange translation 

reserve within equity. On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to the 

particular foreign operation is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Derivatives 

Derivative instruments are initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost (including transaction 

costs) and subsequently measured at their fair value. 

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments including equity and index options. Derivatives are stated at fair value. 

The fair value of a derivative is the equivalent of the unrealised gain or loss from marking the derivative using prevailing market 

rates or internal pricing models. Derivatives with positive market values (unrealised gains) are included in other assets and 

derivatives with negative market values (unrealised losses) are included in other liabilities in the consolidated statement of 

financial position.

The resultant gains and losses from derivatives are included in the consolidated income statement.
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2.5- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Contingencies

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, but are disclosed unless the 

possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.

Contingent assets are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, but are disclosed when an inflow 

of economic benefits is probable.

Segment information

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing products or services (business 

segment), or in providing products and services within a particular economic environment (geographic segment), which is 

subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments.

2.6- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS 

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements require management to make judgements, estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent 

liabilities, at the reporting date. Uncertainty about the assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a 

material adjustment to the amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, which have the 

most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Classification of financial instruments

Judgements are made in the classification of financial instruments based on management’s intention at acquisition.

The Group classifies financial assets and financial liabilities as held for trading if they are acquired primarily for the purpose 

of short term profit making.

Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities as fair value through profit or loss depends on how management 

monitors the performance of these financial assets and financial liabilities. When they are not classified as held for trading but 

have readily available fair values and the changes in fair values are reported as part of income statement in the management 

accounts, they are designated as fair value through profit or loss.

Classification of assets as loans and receivables depends on the nature of the asset. If the Group is unable to trade these 

financial assets due to inactive market and the intention is to receive fixed or determinable payments the financial asset is 

classified as loans and receivables.

All other financial assets are classified as available-for-sale.
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2.6- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (continued)
Judgements (continued)
Impairment of financial assets available-for-sale
The Group treats available-for-sale equity investments as impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in 
the fair value below its cost or where other objective evidence of impairment exists. The determination of what is “significant” 
or “prolonged” requires considerable judgment. In addition, the Group evaluates other factors, including normal volatility in 
share price for quoted equities and the future cash flows and the discount factors for unquoted equities. 

Estimation uncertainty and assumptions
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

Valuation of unquoted equity investments
Valuation of unquoted equity investments is normally based on one of the following:
• recent arm’s length market transactions;
• current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same;
• an earnings multiple or industry specific earnings multiple;
• the expected cash flows discounted at current rates applicable for items with similar terms and risk characteristics; 
• other valuation models. 

The determination of the cash flows and discount factors for unquoted equity investments requires significant estimation. 
There are a number of investments where this estimation cannot be reliably determined. As a result, these investments are 
carried at cost less impairment. See note 10 for details.

Valuation of derivative financial instruments
Valuation of derivative financial instruments is normally based on one of the following:
• Active market quoted price for the exchange traded derivative financial instrument;
• Active market quoted prices for the valuation drivers of the derivative instruments e.g. foreign currency rates, equity 

prices and interest rates.

Impairment of associate 
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss on the 
Group’s investment in its associated company, at each reporting date based on existence of any objective evidence that the 
investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between 
the recoverable amount of the associates and its carrying value and recognises the amount in the consolidated income statement.

Impairment losses on Murabaha receivables
The Group reviews its Murabaha receivables on a periodic basis to assess whether a provision for impairment should be 
recorded in the consolidated income statement. In particular, considerable judgment by management is required in the 
estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the level of provisions required. Such estimates 
are necessarily based on assumptions about several factors involving varying degrees of judgment and uncertainty, and 
actual results may differ resulting in future changes to such provisions
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3- NET GAIN ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2013 2012
KD KD

Realised 2,806,863 (3,237,807)
Unrealised (1,903,712) 11,029,928

903,151 7,792,121

Held for trading 314,387 7,559,970
Designated at fair value through profit or loss 588,764 232,151

903,151 7,792,121

4- DIVIDEND INCOME

2013 2012
KD KD

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,256,750 1,092,303
Financial assets available-for-sale - 63,293

1,256,750 1,155,596

5- INTEREST INCOME

2013 2012
KD KD

Interest on debt securities classified as available-for-sale 518,074 541,060
Others 131,515 6,812

649,589 547,872

6- BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing the profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Parent 

Company by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year less treasury shares.

2013 2012

Profit for the year attributable to the equity holders of the Parent Company (KD) 1,012,300 5,199,473
Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year

   (excluding treasury shares) 777,174,247 777,174,247
Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the equity holders of the

   Parent Company (fils) 1.30 fils 6.69 fils

As there are no dilutive instruments outstanding, basic and diluted earnings per share are identical.
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7- CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statement of cash flows consist of the following:

2013 2012
KD KD

Cash and bank balances 7,544,741 6,588,972
Balances with foreign financial institutions 1,705,639 277,350

9,250,380 6,866,322

Bank balances represent non-interest bearing current accounts held with local and foreign commercial banks.

8- MURABAHA RECEIVABLES 

2013
KD

Murabaha receivables 2,453,023
Less: deferred profit (90,904)
Net Murabaha receivables 2,362,119
Less: provision for impairment (23,580)

2,338,539

The policy of the Group for calculation of the impairment provision for murabaha receivables complies in all material respects 

with the provision requirements of the CBK. The fair values of murabaha receivables do not differ from their respective book 

values. There were no Murabaha receivables as at 31 December 2012.

9- FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2013 2012
KD KD

Financial assets held for trading:
Foreign quoted securities 35,156,670 33,314,710

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss:
Foreign hedge fund investments 452,398 5,253,292
Foreign unquoted security 5,103,177 4,514,413

5,555,575 9,767,705
40,712,245 43,082,415
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9- FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

The unquoted foreign hedge fund investments (comprising mainly quoted securities) are carried at net asset values provided 

by the fund managers.

2013 2012
KD KD

Financial liabilities held for trading:
Short sale of foreign quoted securities 4,284,743 4,112,465

10- FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE

2013 2012
KD KD

Unquoted securities:
Private equity investments 20,876,721 21,739,915
Unquoted equity investment 9,922,723 -
Debt securities 5,691,998 6,323,995

36,491,442 28,063,910

Private equity investments represent investments in private equity funds. These financial assets amounting to KD 19,944,883 

(2012: KD 20,808,077) are carried at net asset values of the funds, where underlying investments securities are carried at 

fair value. Due to the nature of private equity investments and the unpredictability of their cash flows, the value of these 

investments on eventual disposal could vary from the reported net asset values. There is no active market for these financial 

assets and the Group intends to hold them for the long term.

Private equity funds amounting to KD 931,838 (2012: KD 931,838) are carried at cost, less impairment, if any, due to the 

unpredictable nature of their future cash flows and lack of other suitable methods for arriving at a reliable fair value of these 

investments. There is no active market for these financial assets and the Group intends to hold them for the long term.

Management has performed a detailed review of its unquoted securities to assess whether impairment has occurred in the 

value of these investments and recorded an impairment loss of KD 1,501,537 (2012: KD 1,043,349) in the consolidated income 

statement. Based on the latest available financial information, management is of the view that no further impairment provision 

is required as at 31 December 2013 in respect of these investments.

Unquoted equity investment represents investment in AGP International Holding Limited (previously classified as an associate). 

During the year, the Group lost significant influence over AGP. As a result, the remaining equity interest has been transferred 

to financial assets available-for-sale from the date AGP ceased to be an associate (note 11).
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11- INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE
Investment in an associate represents nil (2012: 34.82%) equity interest in an unquoted company, “AGP International Holding 
Limited”, incorporated in British Virgin Island. The principle activity of the Company is that of investment holding.

2013 2012
KD KD

Carrying amount of investment in an associate:
At 1 January 4,672,799 3,592,329
Share of result (671,177) 1,129,936
Additions 985,356
Reclassified to financial assets available-for-sale (note 10) (4,986,978) -
Foreign currency translation adjustment - (49,466)
As at 31 December - 4,672,799

During the year, investment in AGP International Holding Limited "AGP" issued new shares to other parties resulting in 
reduction of the Group’s effective equity interest and the loss of significant influence. As a result, a gain of KD 3,493,745 
was recognised in the consolidated income statement upon its derecognition. The fair value for derecognition of AGP was 
based on latest transaction price. Accordingly, the remaining interest in the investee has been transferred to financial assets 
available-for-sale from the date AGP ceased to be an associate (note 10).

12- OTHER ASSETS

2013 2012
KD KD

Amount due from brokers 14,484,191 8,901,382
Positive fair value of derivatives (note 22) 602,148 694,597
Accrued interest income 967,110 987,503
Furniture and equipment 238,952 259,526
Others 453,208 1,271,500

16,745,609 12,114,508

13- OTHER LIABILITIES

2013 2012
KD KD

Staff bonus and other payables 1,897,926 2,730,406
Negative fair value of derivatives (note 22) 469,704 319,921
Amount due to brokers 1,619,069 -
Others 699,065 660,560

4,685,764 3,710,887
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14- SHARE CAPITAL
The authorised, issued and fully paid share capital in cash as of 31 December 2013 comprised 800,000,000 (2012: 800,000,000) 
shares of 100 fils each.

15- STATUTORY RESERVE 
As required by the Companies Law of Kuwait and the Parent Company’s Articles of Association, 10% of the profit for the year 
before contribution to KFAS, NLST, Zakat and Directors’ remuneration is to be transferred to statutory reserve. The Parent 
Company may resolve to discontinue such annual transfers when the reserve equals or exceeds 50% of paid up share capital. 

Distribution of the Parent Company’s statutory reserve is limited to the amount required to enable the payment of a dividend 
of 5% of paid up share capital to be made in years when retained earnings are not sufficient for the payment of a dividend 
of that amount.

16- GENERAL RESERVE 
General reserve represents reversal of excess general provision transferred to equity in the previous year based on the 
instruction from the Central Bank of Kuwait

17- TREASURY SHARES

2013 2012

Number of treasury shares 23,560,000 23,560,000
Percentage of capital 2.945% 2.945%
Market value – KD 1,531,400 1,272,240
Cost – KD 1,698,775 1,698,775
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18- TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
Related parties represent associated company, managed funds, major shareholders, directors and key management personnel 
of the Group, and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties. Pricing policies and terms of 
these transactions are approved by the Parent Company’s management.

For the year ended 31 December 2013 Associate

Other

related

parties Total
KD KD KD

Transactions included in consolidated income statement
Management and advisory fees - 98,168 98,168
Interest income 127,856 - 127,856
Consolidated statement of financial position 
Other assets - 59,451 59,451

For the year ended 31 December 2012 Associate

Other

related

parties Total
KD KD KD

Transactions included in consolidated income statement
Other income 142,113 - 142,113
Consolidated statement of financial position 
Other assets 835,500 - 835,500

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of key management personnel of the Group during the period were as follows:

2013 2012
KD KD

Salaries and short-term benefits 858,145 629,389
Employees’ end of service benefits 12,068 37,430

870,213 666,819

19- COMMITMENTS 
At 31 December 2013, the Group had capital commitments amounting to KD 3,651,434 (2012: KD 3,730,169) in respect of financial 
assets available-for-sale.

2013 2012
KD KD

Operating lease rental commitments
Future minimum lease payments:

Within one year 24,364 18,650
Within two to five years 938,927 766,059

963,291 784,709
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20- FIDUCIARY ACCOUNTS
The total income earned from trust and other fiduciary activities amounted to KD 98,168 (2012: KD 62,909).

21- SEGMENT INFORMATION 
A segment is distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing products or services (business segment), 
or in providing products and services within a particular economic environment (geographic segment), which is subject to 
risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments. For management purposes, the Group is organised into two 
geographical segments based on the location of assets: Kuwait and Pan Asia (including India and China). This is the basis on 
which the Group reports its segment information internally to senior management.

The following table presents revenue, results for the year, total assets and total liabilities information regarding the Group’s 
reportable segments:

2013 2012
Kuwait Pan Asia Total Kuwait Pan Asia Total

KD KD KD KD KD KD
Revenue
External Customers 12,545 7,787,277 7,799,822 141,788 11,832,350 11,974,138
Total segment revenue 12,545 7,787,277 7,799,822 141,788 11,832,350 11,974,138
Total segment results (2,290,197) 3,409,688 1,119,491 (4,000,150) 9,486,648 5,486,498
Segment assets 2,977,660 102,560,555 105,538,215 1,767,767 93,723,013 95,490,780
Segment liabilities 1,781,492 7,189,015 8,970,507 3,047,472 4,775,880 7,823,352
Other disclosures
Investment in

   associates - - - - 4,672,799 4,672,799
Impairment losses - 1,525,117 1,525,117 - 1,335,708 1,335,708
Commitments - 3,651,434 3,651,434 - 3,730,169 3,730,169

22- DERIVATIVES
In the ordinary course of business the Group enters into various types of transactions that involve financial instruments. A 
derivative financial instrument is a financial contract between two parties where payments are dependent upon movements 
in price in one or more underlying financial instrument, reference rate or index. Derivative financial instruments traded by the 
Group are mainly interest rate swaps, total return swaps, futures, options and warrants.

Derivative financial instruments are subject to various risks similar to non-derivative instruments, such as market risk and credit 
risk. Derivative financial instruments are typically also subject to certain additional risks, such as those resulting from leverage 
and reduced liquidity. The Group manages these risks on an aggregate basis along with the risks associated with its investing 
activities as part of its overall risk management policies. The Group may use derivative financial instruments in the normal 
course of its business to take speculative investment positions as well as for risk management purposes. The principal types 
of derivatives used by the Group are:
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22- DERIVATIVES (continued)

Interest rate swaps 

Swaps are contractual agreements between two parties to exchange movements in interest or foreign currency rates. Typically, 

for an interest rate swap, a floating rate interest stream will be exchanged for a fixed rate or vice versa.

Options

Options are contracts that grant the Group, in return for payment of the purchase price (the “premium”) of the option, the 

right to either purchase or sell a financial instrument at a specified price within a specified period of time or on a specified 

date, from or to the writer of the option. As a writer of a put or call option, the Group has no control over whether the option 

will be exercised and, as a result, bears the market risk of an unfavourable change in the price of the security underlying the 

written option. When a written option expires, the Group realises a gain or loss on the option to the extent of the premiums 

received or paid.

Total Return Swaps

The Group may enter into swap agreements with counterparties, in which both parties agree to make periodic payments on 

a specified notional amount. These payments are recorded in the consolidated income statement as realised gains or losses. 

Additionally, these swaps are marked-to-market on a daily basis and any change in value is recorded as unrealized gain (loss). 

When a swap is terminated, the Group will record realized gain or loss equal to the difference between the unwind proceeds 

and the Group’s basis in the contract, if any. In order to enter into these swap agreements, the Group is required to make 

deposits or post collateral with its counterparties. 

Swaps are subject to various risks, which include the possibility that there will be no liquid market for these agreements or 

that the counterparty in the agreement may default on its obligation to perform on its contractual terms. The Group reduces 

its credit risk for these over-the-counter swap contracts by negotiating master agreements that include netting provisions 

which incorporate the right of “set off” (assets less liabilities) across other OTC contracts with such counterparties.

The Group may enter into total return swaps to manage its exposure to the market or certain sectors of the market, or to 

create exposure to certain equities to which it is otherwise not exposed. Total return swap contracts involve the exchange 

by the Group and a counterparty of their respective commitments to pay or receive a net amount based on the change in the 

fair value of a particular security or index and a specified notional amount.

Futures

Futures contracts are contractual agreements to buy or sell a specified financial instrument at a specific price and date in the 

future. The contracts are transacted in standardised amounts on regulated exchanges and are subject to daily cash margin 

requirements.

Warrants

Warrants are derivative securities that give the holder the right to purchase securities (usually equity) from the issuer at a 

specific price within a certain time frame. 
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22 DERIVATIVES (continued)

The table below shows the positive and negative fair values of derivative financial instruments, which are equivalent to the 

market values, together with the notional amounts. The notional amount is the amount of a derivative’s underlying asset, 

reference rate or index and is the basis upon which changes in the value of derivatives are measured. The notional amounts 

indicate the volume of transactions outstanding at year end and are indicative of neither the market risk nor the credit risk. 

The Parent Company deals in interest rate swap contracts to manage its interest rate risk.

2013

Notional amounts by term

 to maturity

Positive fair 

value

Negative

fair value

Number

of contracts

Notional 

amount

total

Within

1 year

1- 5

years
KD KD KD KD KD

Interest rate swaps 45,846 - - 28,300,000 - 28,300,000
Total return equity swaps 474,257 317,229 - 23,031,684 23,031,684 -
Futures - 98,217 1,367 - - -
Warrants 7,449 - 616,557 - - -
Option contracts 74,596 54,258 15,000 - - -

602,148 469,704 632,924 51,331,684 23,031,684 28,300,000

2012

Notional amounts by term

 to maturity

Positive fair 

value

Negative

fair value

Number

of contracts

Notional 

amount

total

Within

1 year

1- 5

years
KD KD KD KD KD

Interest rate swaps 29,620 - - 28,200,000 - 28,200,000
Total return equity swaps 42,285 32,374 - 7,211,852 7,211,852 -
Futures 89,158 - 575,500 - - -
Warrants 5,498 - 129,923 - - -
Option contracts 528,036 287,547 81,061,936 - - -

694,597 319,921 81,767,359 35,411,852 7,211,852 28,200,000

All derivative transactions are for trading purposes.
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23- FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

Risk is inherent in the Group’s activities but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and 

monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. This process of risk management is critical to the Group’s continuing 

profitability and each individual within the Group is accountable for the risk exposures relating to his or her responsibilities. 

The Group’s principal financial liabilities, other than negative fair value of the derivatives, comprise of financial liability through 

profit or loss and other liabilities. The Group has various financial assets such as cash and balances with foreign and local 

financial institutes, quoted and unquoted financial instruments and other assets which arise directly from its operations.

The Group classifies the risks faced as part of its monitoring and controlling activities into certain categories of risks and 

accordingly specific responsibilities have been given to various officers for the identification, measurement, control and 

reporting of these identified categories of risks. The categories of risks are:

A. Risks arising from financial instruments:

1- Credit risk which includes default risk of clients and counterparties 

2- Liquidity risk

3- Market risk which includes interest rate, foreign exchange and equity price risks

B. Other risks

1- Prepayment risk

2- Operational risk which includes risks due to operational failures

The Parent Company’s Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the overall risk management approach and for approving 

the risk strategies and principles.

23.1- CREDIT RISK

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to 

incur a financial loss. The Group’s credit policy and exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. The Group seeks 

to avoid undue concentrations of risks with individuals or Groups of customers in specific locations or business through 

diversification of placement activities. 

Maximum exposure to credit risk 

The Group is exposed to credit risk with respect to its balances with banks and financial institutions and other assets. The 

Group’s maximum exposure is equal to the carrying amount of these balances. The maximum credit exposure to a single 

counter party is KD 7,067,243 (2012: KD 6,447,503).

Risk concentration of the maximum exposure to credit risk 

Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities in the same 

geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be 

similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the 

Group’s performance to developments affecting a particular industry or geographic location. 
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23- FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

23.1- CREDIT RISK (continued)

Risk concentration of the maximum exposure to credit risk (continued)

The table below illustrates the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the consolidated statement of financial 

position analysed by geographical sector:

2013

Kuwait

KD
Pan Asia

KD
Total

KD
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2,749,658 6,499,422 9,249,080
Murabaha receivable - 2,338,539 2,338,539
Other assets 1,239,658 15,505,951 16,745,609
Total credit exposure 3,989,316 24,343,912 28,333,228

2012

Kuwait

KD
Pan Asia 

KD
Total

KD
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,169,136 5,695,886 6,865,022
Other assets 66,648 11,610,116 11,676,764
Total credit exposure 1,235,784 17,306,002 18,541,786

The table below illustrates the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the consolidated statement of financial 

position analysed by industry sector:

2013

Banks and 

other financial 

institutions Others Total
KD KD KD

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 9,249,080 - 9,249,080
Murabaha receivable - 2,338,539 2,338,539
Other assets 14,484,191 2,261,418 16,745,609
Total credit exposure 23,733,271 4,599,957 28,333,228
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23- FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

23.1- CREDIT RISK (continued)

Risk concentration of the maximum exposure to credit risk (continued)

2012

Banks and 

other financial 

institutions Others Total
KD KD KD

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6,865,022 - 6,865,022
Other assets 8,901,382 2,775,382 11,676,764
Total credit exposure 15,766,404 2,775,382 18,541,786

Analysis of past due or impaired

The Group did not have any past due or impaired financial assets as at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012.

23.2- LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its liabilities when they fall due. Liquidity risk can be caused 

by market disruptions or credit downgrades which may cause certain sources of funding to dry up immediately. To guard 

against this risk, the Group’s management have diversified funding sources and assets are managed with liquidity in mind, 

maintaining a healthy balance of cash, cash equivalents, and readily marketable securities.

The table below shows an analysis of financial liabilities based on the remaining undiscounted contractual maturities at the 

reporting date:

2013
3 to 12 1 to 5

months years Total
KD KD KD

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 4,284,743 - 4,284,743
Other liabilities 4,459,819 225,945 4,685,764

8,744,562 225,945 8,970,507
Commitments - 3,651,434 3,651,434
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
As at 31 December 2013

23- FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

23.2- LIQUIDITY RISK (continued)

2012
3 to 12 1 to 5

months years Total
KD KD KD

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 4,112,465 - 4,112,465
Other liabilities 3,710,887 - 3,710,887

7,823,352 - 7,823,352
Commitments - 3,730,169 3,730,169

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s assets and liabilities. The maturities of assets and liabilities 

have been determined according to when they are expected to be recovered or settled. The maturity profile for financial 

assets carried at fair value through profit or loss and financial assets available-for-sale and associates is determined based on 

management’s estimate of liquidation of those financial assets. The actual maturities may differ from the maturities shown 

below since borrowers may have the right to prepay obligations with or without prepayment penalties. 

The maturity profile of assets and liabilities at 31 December was as follows: 

2013

Within

3 months

KD 

3 months to 

one year

KD

Over one 

year

KD 

Total

KD 
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 9,250,380 - - 9,250,380
Murabaha Receivable - 2,338,539 - 2,338,539
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 35,609,068 - 5,103,177 40,712,245
Financial assets available-for-sale - - 36,491,442 36,491,442
Other assets 15,150,731 1,154,054 440,824 16,745,609
Total assets 60,010,179 3,492,593 42,035,443 105,538,215

Liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 4,284,743 - - 4,284,743
Other liabilities 4,685,764 - - 4,685,764
Total liabilities 8,970,507 - - 8,970,507
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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23- FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

23.2- LIQUIDITY RISK (continued)

2012

Within

3 months

KD 

3 months to

one year

KD

Over one 

year

KD 

Total

KD
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6,866,322 - - 6,866,322
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 38,568,002 - 4,514,413 43,082,415
Financial assets available-for-sale - - 28,063,910 28,063,910
Held-to-maturity investments - 690,826 - 690,826
Investment in an associate - - 4,672,799 4,672,799
Other assets 10,431,479 1,298,590 384,439 12,114,508
Total assets 55,865,803 1,989,416 37,635,561 95,490,780

Liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 4,112,465 - - 4,112,465
Other liabilities 3,710,887 - - 3,710,887
Total liabilities 7,823,352 - - 7,823,352

23.3- MARKET RISK

Market risk is the risk that the value of an asset will fluctuate as a result of changes in market variables such as interest rates, 

foreign exchange rates, and equity prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual investment 

or its issuer or factors affecting all investments traded in the market.

Market risk is managed on the basis of pre-determined asset allocations across various asset categories, diversification of 

assets in terms of geographical distribution and industry concentration, a continuous appraisal of market conditions and 

trends and management’s estimate of long and short term changes in fair value. 

23.3.1- FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange 

rates. The Parent Company’s Board of Directors has set limits on open positions by currency. Open positions are monitored 

on a regular basis.

The tables below indicate the currencies to which the Group had significant exposure at 31 December on its monetary assets 

and liabilities. The analysis calculates the effect of a 5 % change in currency rate against the Kuwaiti Dinar, with all other 

variables held constant on consolidated income statement. There is no direct impact on the other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
As at 31 December 2013

23- FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

23.3- MARKET RISK (continued)

23.3.1- FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK (continued)

Currency

Effect on 

results

2013

KD

Effect on 

results

2012

KD

US Dollars 846,660 1,616,915
Hong Kong Dollars 932,924 496,929
South Korean Won 221,000 301,443
British Pound 255,159 102,777
Thai Baht 60,059 202,656

23.3.2- INTEREST RATE RISK

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future profitability or the value of the financial 

instruments. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as a result of mismatches or gaps in the amounts of assets and liabilities 

and off statement of financial position instruments that mature or reprice in a given period. The Parent Company’s Board of 

Directors has established levels of interest rate risk by setting limits on the interest rate gaps for stipulated periods.

Positions are monitored on a regular basis to ensure positions are maintained within established limits.

The effective interest rate (effective yield) of a monetary financial instrument is the rate that, when used in a present value 

calculation, results in the carrying amount of the instrument. The rate is a historical rate for a fixed rate instrument carried at 

amortised cost and a current rate for a floating rate instrument or an investment carried at fair value.

The sensitivity of the consolidated income statement is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on the Group’s 

result before KFAS, NLST and Zakat for one year, based on the interest rate sensitive financial assets and financial liabilities 

held at 31 December. There is no direct impact on other comprehensive income.

Increase/

decrease

in basis points

Effect

on result

for the year
2013
KD +25 16,482
KD -25 (16,482)

2012
KD +25 18,279
KD -25 (18,279)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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23- FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

23.3- MARKET RISK (continued)

23.3.3- EQUITY PRICE RISK

Equity price risk arises from changes in the fair values of equity investments. The Group manages this through diversification of 

investments in terms of geographical distribution and industry concentration. The majority of the Group’s quoted investments 

are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

The effect on Group’s results (as a result of a change in the fair value of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or 

loss at 31 December) due to a 5% change in market indices, with all other variables held constant is as follows. There is no 

impact on the other comprehensive income.

2013 2012

Market indices

Effect on 

results

KD 

Effect on 

results

KD 

Hong Kong 865,359 519,433
South Korea 171,208 284,029
Taiwan 101,200 99,135

23.4- PREPAYMENT RISK

Prepayment risk is the risk that the Group will incur a financial loss because its customers and counterparties repay or request 

repayment earlier or later than expected. The Group is not exposed to significant prepayment risk. 

23.5- OPERATIONAL RISK 

Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems failure, human error, fraud or external events. When controls fail to 

perform, operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have legal or regulatory implications, or lead to financial loss. The 

Group cannot expect to eliminate all operational risks, but through a control framework and by monitoring and responding to 

potential risks, the Group is able to manage the risks. Controls include effective segregation of duties, access, authorisation 

and reconciliation procedures, staff education and assessment processes, including the use of internal audit.

The Group has a set of policies and procedures, which is approved by the Parent Company’s Board of Directors and are 

applied to identify, assess and supervise operational risk in addition to other types of risks. Operational risk is managed by 

the operational risk function, which ensures compliance with policies and procedures and monitors operational risk.
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24- FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 

The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s assets and liabilities. 

Quantitative disclosures fair value measurement hierarchy for assets as at 31 December 2013:

Fair value measurement using

Date of valuation Total

Quoted prices 
in active 
markets
(Level 1)

Significant 
observable 

inputs
(Level 2)

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs
(Level 3)

2013 KD KD KD KD 

Assets measured at fair value
Financial assets held for trading:
Quoted securities 31 December 2013 35,156,670 35,156,670 - -
Financial assets designated at fair

   value through profit or loss:
Foreign hedge funds 30 November 2013 452,398 - 194,284 258,114
Foreign unquoted securities 31 December 2013 5,103,177 - - 5,103,177
Financial assets available-for-sale:
Private Equity Funds 30 September 2013 19,944,883 - - 19,944,883
Derivative assets:
Interest rate swaps 31 December 2013 45,846 - - 45,846
Total return equity swaps 31 December 2013 474,257 - 474,257 -
Warrants 31 December 2013 7,449 7,449 - -
Option contracts 31 December 2013 74,596 - - 74,596

61,259,276 35,164,119 668,541 25,426,616

Liabilities measured at fair value
Financial liabilities at fair value

   through profit or loss:
Equity securities sold short 31 December 2013 4,284,743 4,284,743 - -
Derivative liabilities
Total return equity swaps 31 December 2013 317,229 - 317,229 -
Futures 31 December 2013 98,217 98,217 - -
Option contracts 31 December 2013 54,258 - - 54,258

4,754,447 4,382,960 317,229 54,258
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24- FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

Fair value measurement using

Date of valuation Total

Quoted prices 

in active 

markets

(Level 1)

Significant 

observable 

inputs

(Level 2)

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs

(Level 3)
2012 KD KD KD KD

Assets measured at fair value
Financial assets held for trading:
Quoted securities 31 December 2012 33,314,710 33,314,710 - -
Financial assets designated at fair

   value through profit or loss:
Foreign hedge funds 30 November 2012 5,253,292 - 412,724 4,840,568
Foreign unquoted securities 31 December 2012 4,514,413 -  - 4,514,413
Financial assets available-for-sale:
Private Equity Funds 30 November 2012 20,808,077 -  - 20,808,077
Derivative assets:
Interest rate swaps 31 December 2012 29,620 -  - 29,620
Total return equity swaps 31 December 2012 42,285 - 42,285 -
Futures contracts 31 December 2012 89,158 89,158 - -
Warrants 31 December 2012 5,498 5,498 - -
Option contracts 31 December 2012 528,036 - - 528,036

64,585,089 33,409,366 455,009 30,720,714

Liabilities measured at fair value
Financial liabilities at fair value

   through profit or loss:
Equity securities sold short 31 December 2012 4,112,465 4,112,465 - -
Derivative liabilities
Total return equity swaps 31 December 2012 32,374 - 32,374 -
Option contracts 31 December 2012 287,547 - - 287,547

4,432,386 4,112,465 32,374 287,547
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24- FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

The following table shows a reconciliation of the opening and closing amount of level 3 financial assets and liabilities which 

are recorded at fair value.

As at 1 January
2013

Gain /( loss)
recorded in the 

consolidated 
income 

statement

Gain recorded 
in consolidated 

statement of 
comprehensive 

income

Net (sales), 
purchases and 

settlements

As at 
31 December 

2013
KD KD KD KD KD 

Assets measured at fair value
Financial assets at fair value through

   profit or loss:
Foreign hedge funds 4,840,568 223,494 - (4,805,948) 258,114
Foreign unquoted security 4,514,413 588,764 - - 5,103,177
Financial assets available-for-sale:
Private equity funds 20,808,077 (62,170) 651,475 (1,452,499) 19,944,883
Derivative assets:
Interest rate swaps 29,620 16,226 - - 45,846
Option contracts 528,036 (66,137) - (387,303) 74,596

30,720,714 700,177 651,475 (6,645,750) 25,426,616

Liabilities measured at fair value
Derivative liabilities:
Option contracts 287,547 (63,029) - (170,260) 54,258

At 1 January

2012

Gain /( loss)

recorded in the 

consolidated 

income 

statement

Gain /(loss) 

recorded in 

consolidated 

statement of 

comprehensive 

income

Net purchases, 

(sales) and 

settlements

At 

31 December 

2012
KD KD KD KD KD 

Assets measured at fair value
Financial assets at fair value through

   profit or loss:
Foreign hedge funds 8,968,145 80,242 - (4,207,819) 4,840,568
Foreign unquoted security 2,981,512 1,532,901 - - 4,514,413
Financial assets available-for-sale:
Private equity funds 19,369,612 917,016 (210,731) 732,180 20,808,077
Derivative assets:
Interest rate swaps 75,613 (45,993) - - 29,620
Option contracts 580,441 (1,062,723) - 1,010,318 528,036

31,975,323 1,421,443 (210,731) (2,465,321) 30,720,714

Liabilities measured at fair value
Derivative liabilities:
Option contracts 1,213,301 889,396 - (1,815,150) 287,547

During the year, there have been no transfers between the hierarchies.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
As at 31 December 2013



ANNUAL REPORT 2013 53

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
As at 31 December 2013

24- FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

Description of significant unobservable inputs to valuation of financial assets:

Foreign hedge funds, foreign equity security and private equity funds are valued based on net asset value method using latest 

available financial statement of the investee entity, wherein the underlying assets are fair valued. 

Derivative assets and liabilities are value based on a broker’s quotes. The management considers the broker quotes as a fair 

indication of the fair value of these financial instruments. 

25- CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy capital ratios in order to 

support its business and maximise shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in the light of changes in economic conditions and risk 

characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount 

of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in business conditions. No changes were 

made in the objectives, policies or processes during the year ended 31 December 2013. Capital comprises equity attributable 

to the equity holders of the Parent Company excluding cumulative changes in fair values is measured at KD 84,586,369 as at 

31 December 2013 (2012: KD 83,656,619).




